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Consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2022

(in euro) (in euro)
ASSETS Notes 31.12.2022 31.12.2021 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Notes 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

FIXED ASSETS 344.070.239 344.018.805 EQUITY 274.817.689 274.065.373

Intangible assets 5 843.712 1.036.274 I. EQUITY GROUP SHARE 264.092.100 263.556.395
Investment property 7 271.368.772 271.488.809 Issued capital 15.939.028 15.939.028
Property, plant & equipment 6 3.245.109 761.895 Reserves 247.335.938 227.416.295
Investments in associates and joint ventures 8 59.109.235 52.161.691 Foreign currency translation reserves 283.241 379.688
Trade and other receivables 13 6.250.000 5.377.240 Net result of the year 454.923 19.821.384
Financial fixed assets 1.390 1.844 II. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 10.804.559 10.508.978
Finance lease receivable 9 1.660.380 3.033.679
Deferred tax assets 10 1.591.640 10.157.373 LIABILITIES 340.969.002 372.808.397

I. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 253.244.503 239.589.018
CURRENT ASSETS 271.716.453 302.854.966 Provisions 8,17 1.810.919 1.648.481

Non-current financial debts 15 231.240.670 206.780.829
Assets held for sale -                              - Credit institutions 191.388.999 167.091.250
Inventories 11 98.257.497               113.231.002 - Other 39.761.128 39.599.036
Contract assets 12 86.696.712               65.541.992 - Lease liabilities (IFRS 16) 90.543 90.543

-                              Other non-current financial liabilities 0 0
Finance lease receivables 9 700.349                    672.951 Other non-current liabilities 0 0
Trade and other receivables 13 47.112.825               60.005.921 Deferred tax liabilities 10 20.192.913 31.159.708

Current tax receivables 10 11.259.887               1.931.446 II. CURRENT LIABILITIES 87.724.500 133.219.379
Cash and cash equivalents 14 26.689.980               61.044.048 Provisions 8,17 1.157.703 5.505.354
Deferred charges and accrued income 999.204                    427.606 Current financial debts 15 2.534.596 49.504.039

TOTAL ASSETS 615.786.692 646.873.770 - Credit institutions 2.534.596 49.504.039
- Other 0 0

Other current financial liabilities 0 0
Trade debts and other current debts 43.265.833 39.126.113
- Trade payables 16 30.919.645 29.007.100
- Tax liabilities 10 12.346.188 10.119.013
Other current liabilities 16 12.846.201 8.731.074
Deferred charges and accrued income 18 27.920.166 30.352.799

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 615.786.692 646.873.770



CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(in euro) Notes 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

OPERATING INCOME 77.507.301 68.167.710

Revenue 19 65.215.378 50.153.191

Property rental income 20 8.908.449 8.952.379

Other operating income 21 3.383.475 9.062.140

OPERATING EXPENSES -79.141.637 -62.705.496

Property development expenses 22 -62.793.129 -40.840.908

Employee expenses 23 -6.689.620 -8.324.838

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses 5,6 -717.027 -596.583

Other operating expenses 24 -8.941.860 -12.943.167

Changes in fair value of investment properties 7 -10.336.981 -2.243.303

Result on disposed assets 8,17 0 -13.551

Share in the net profit (loss) of equity accounted investments 8 16.437.494 20.237.482

EARNINGS BEFORE INTERESTS & TAXES (EBIT) 4.466.177 23.442.842

Financial income 25 3.365.081 2.492.993

Financial expenses 26 -5.524.612 -5.770.563

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXES (PBT) 2.306.646 20.165.272

Income taxes 10 -1.579.234 8.556

Deferred taxes 10 -293.526 0

TAXES -1.872.760 8.556
PROFIT/(LOSS) OF THE YEAR 433.886 20.173.828

Non-controlling interest -178.977 352.444

SHARE OF THE GROUP 612.863 19.821.384

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

Profit/(loss) of the year 433.886 20.173.828

Non-controlling interest -178.977 352.444

Share of the group 612.863 19.821.384

Foreign currency translation reserve -96.447 102.051

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 337.439 20.275.879

Non-controlling interest -178.977 352.444

SHARE OF THE GROUP 516.416 19.923.435

EARNINGS PER SHARE 31.12.2022 31.12.2021

(in €)

Basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing operations 0,55 31,00



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ending 31 December 2022

All figures in Euro

Issued Capital

Foreign 

currency 

translation 

reserve

Consolidated 

reserves

Attributable to 

owners of the 

parent

Non-

controlling 

interest

Total

Balance at 31 Dec 2020 15.939.028 277.637 227.416.295 243.632.960 10.420.428 254.053.388

Profit for the year 19.821.384       19.821.384       352.444             20.173.828       

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 

income tax 102.051              102.051             102.051             

Total comprehensive income for the year -                          102.051             19.821.384      19.923.435      352.444            20.275.879      
Dividend 263.894 -            263.894 -            

Balance at 31 December 2021 15.939.028 379.688 247.237.679 263.556.395 10.508.978 274.065.373

Profit for the year 612.863             612.863             235.901             848.763             

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of 

income tax 96.447 -               96.447 -              96.447 -              

Total comprehensive income for the year -                          96.447 -              612.863            516.416            235.901            752.317            
Dividend -                      

Balance at 31 December 2022 15.939.028 283.241 247.850.542 264.072.811 10.744.879 274.817.690



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ending 31 December 2022

All figures in Euro

Notes 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 2.306.646                    20.165.272         

Adjustments for:

   Share in the net profit of equity accounted investments 8 16.437.494 -                 20.237.482 -        

   Finance expense 26 5.524.612                    5.770.563           

   Finance income 25 3.365.081 -                   2.492.993 -          

   Change in fair value of Investment Properties 7 10.336.981                  2.243.303           

   Profit/(loss) on disposal of assets 8, 30 -                                13.551                

   Depreciation and impairment losses 717.027                       596.583              

  Changes in provisions -                                18.194 -               

917.308 -                      6.040.603           

Movements in working capital:

   Decrease / (Increase) in Inventory 11 750.039                       3.543.310           

   Decrease / (Increase) in Trade and other receivables 13 15.989.100                  7.106.262 -          

   Decrease / (Increase) in Contract assets 12 6.640.088 -                   24.272.441         

   Decrease / (Increase) in Deferred charges and accrued income 571.598 -                      2.479.615           

  (Decrease) / Increase in Provisions 17 4.185.213 -                   612.650 -             

  (Decrease) / Increase in Trade and other payables 16 4.139.720                    2.135.479 -          

  (Decrease) / Increase in Accrued charges and deferred income 2.432.633 -                   27.089.953         

Movement in financial fixed assets 454                              -                       

Income tax paid 10 1.579.234                    725.791              

Dividends received 8 -                                -                       

Net cash flow from operating activities 7.711.706                    54.297.322         

Cash flows from Investing activities

Capital expenditure on investment properties 7 11.709.934 -                 10.780.911 -        

Purchase of property, plant & equipment 6 1.950.845 -                   185.268 -             

Purchase of intangible assets -                                240.049 -             

Receipt of finance lease receivables 9 700.349                       646.345              

Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiary -                                -                       

Net cash inflow on disposal of joint ventures 8 -                                -                       

Paid in capital 8 -                                731.250 -             

Acquisition of additional participation in joint ventures -                                -                       

Proceeds from the disposal of property, plant & equipment 6 -                                42.665                

Proceeds from the disposal of assets held for sale -                                -                       

Net cash outflow on financial assets

Interest received 25 269.078                       221.005              

Dividends paid 30 -                                263.894 -             

Net cash flow used in investing activities 12.691.352 -                 11.291.357 -        

Cash flows from financing activities

Acquisition of additional participation in subsidiaries 29 -                                -                       

Proceeds from borrowings 15 -                                -                       

Repayment of borrowings 15 22.671.694 -                 -                       

Net cash flow in other long term receivables 13 872.760 -                      165.026 -             

Net cash flow in other long term payables 16 -                                

Repayment of lease liabilities -                                45.482 -               

Interest paid 26 5.131.549 -                   5.216.612 -          

Financing related income received

Financing related expense paid 26 698.420 -                      466.919 -             

Net cash flow from financing activities 29.374.423 -                 5.894.039 -          

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 34.354.069 -                 37.111.927         

Foreign exchange differences

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 61.044.048                  23.932.121         

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 14 26.689.979                  61.044.048         



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 General information 

Extensa Group NV (the “Company”) is a limited liability company governed by Belgian law. The address of its 

registered office is Avenue du Port 86c, 1000 Brussels, Belgium.  

The Company and its affiliates (together referred as the “Group”) are active in the real estate development industry. 

The Group is ultimately controlled by its parent, Ackermans & Van Haaren. 

 Application of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

2.1 Standards and interpretations applicable to the Group for the annual period beginning on 1 January 2022 

- Amendment to IFRS 16 Leases: COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (applicable 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021)  

- Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (applicable for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022)  

- Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets: Onerous Contracts — 

Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022)  

- Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations: Reference to the Conceptual Framework (applicable for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022)  

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2022) 

The potential impacts of these standards and interpretations on the consolidated accounts of the Group have been 

determined. These changes have no significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.  

2.2 Standards and interpretations (applicable to the Group) published, but not yet applicable for the annual period 

beginning on 1 January 2022 



-IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)  

-Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance contracts: Initial Application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 – Comparative 

Information (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)  

-Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-

current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2024 or later, but not yet endorsed in the EU)  

-Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of 

Accounting Policies (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)  

-Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of 

Accounting Estimates (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)  

-Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction (applicable for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023)  

 

The potential impacts of these standards and interpretations on the consolidated accounts of the Group are being 

determined. The Group does not expect these changes to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial 

statements.  

 Summary of significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below. 

3.1 Statement of compliance 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been prepared in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards as endorsed by the European Union (“IFRS”). The Group has 

consistently applied the accounting policies throughout all periods presented, unless stated otherwise. 

3.2 Basis of preparation 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in euros, unless otherwise stated. Euro is also the functional 

currency of Group. The functional currency is the currency of the economic environment in which an entity operates. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical basis, unless otherwise stated. The following 

items are measured at fair value: 

 Investment property 

 

Separate notes have been included for the abovementioned fair value balances only where these are material. 

3.3 Basis of consolidation 

 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including 

structured entities) controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company: 

 

 has power over the investee; 



 
 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 

 
 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 

changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 

Company loses control of the subsidiary.  

 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies into line with the Group's accounting policies. 

 

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 

members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 

 

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the 

subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's interests and the non-- 

controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference 

between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration 

paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company. 

 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or 1oss and is calculated as the 

difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 

retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 

subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 

in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 

liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 

specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the 

date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 

9, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.  

3.4 Investments in associates and joint ventures 

 

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to 

participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over 

those policies. 

 

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of 

an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of 

the parties sharing control. 

 

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are incorporated in these consolidated 



financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, an investment in an 

associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and 

adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 

associate or joint venture. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the 

Group's interest in that associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. 

Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations 

or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture. 

 

 

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which 

the investee becomes an associate or a joint venture.  

 

The requirements of IFRS 9 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with 

respect to the Group's investment in an associate or a joint venture. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of 

the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a 

single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with 

its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any 

reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of 

the investment subsequently increases. 

 

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be an associate 

or a joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in the 

former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained 

interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in accordance 

with IFRS 9.  

 

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 

transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial statements only 

to the extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group. 

 

3.5 Interests in joint operations 

 

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights 

to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed 

sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require 

unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. When a Group entity undertakes its activities under joint 

operations, the Group as a joint operator recognises in relation to its interest in a joint operation:  

 its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;  

 its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;  

 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation;  

 its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and  

 its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.  

 

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in 



accordance with the IFRS Standards applicable to the particular assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses. When a 

Group entity transacts with a joint operation in which a Group entity is a joint operator (such as a sale or contribution 

of assets), the Group is considered to be conducting the transaction with the other parties to the joint operation, and 

gains and losses resulting from the transactions are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only 

to the extent of other parties’ interests in the joint operation. When a Group entity transacts with a joint operation 

in which a Group entity is a joint operator (such as a purchase of assets), the Group does not recognise its share of 

the gains and losses until it resells those assets to a third party. 
 

 

3.6 Business combinations 

 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 

business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of 

the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 

equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally 

recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair 

value, unless the standards require otherwise. 

 

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling 

interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) 

over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.  

 

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 

of the entity's net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at the non- 

controlling interests' proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-

controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS. 

 

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting 

from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair 

value and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business combination.  

 

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is 

remeasured to its acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. 

Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in 

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment would be appropriate if that 

interest were disposed of. 

 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 

combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 

Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or 

liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the 



acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date. 

 

3.7 Goodwill 

 

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition of 

the business (see note 3.6 above) less accumulated impairment losses, if any. 

 

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units (or 

groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently 

when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is 

less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in 

the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised 

for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 

 

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 

determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 

 

3.8 Property, plant and equipment 

 

Furniture, machinery and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Property, plant & equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows: 

 Buildings: 25 to 35 years 

 Furniture: 3 to 10 years 

 Machinery: 10 to 20 years 

 Equipment: 3 to 10 years 

 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 

period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

 

Assets held through leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. 

However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end of the lease term, 

assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. 

 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 

expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an 

item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

3.9 Intangible assets 

 



Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line basis over their 

estimated useful lives (generally 5 years). The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the 

end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective 

basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less 

accumulated impairment losses. 

 

 

 

3.10 Investment Property 

 

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation (including property under 

construction for such purposes). Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at fair value. All of the Group's property 

interests held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are accounted for as 

investment properties and are measured using the fair value model.  

 

Investment Property (Under Construction) is carried at fair value. Fair value is determined by external appraisers 

or by management. In the former case, renowned external appraisers carry out an external inspection of the 

property and they are provided with the necessary supporting documentation (regarding property title over the 

involved property, copies of (building) permits, architectural plans, renderings, copies of (preliminary) lease 

contracts), based on which they prepare their valuation reports. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair 

value of investment properties are included in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

 

Fair values are calculated based on the capitalisation of (rental) income, discounted cash flow of rental income 

(adjusted for land market value if applicable) or capitalised construction costs.  

 

The capitalisation of income is a valuation technique that converts future income (often rental income) to a single 

current (ie discounted) amount. This fair value measurement is determined on the basis of the value indicated by 

current market expectations about those future amounts. The key inputs for this valuation technique are future 

income and the capitalisation rate. 

 

The discounted cash flow of income is a valuation technique that converts future income (often rental income) to a 

single current (ie discounted) amount. This fair value measurement is determined on the basis of the value 

indicated by current market expectations about those future amounts. This technique is chosen if the future income 

is limited in time. This value can be adjusted for the land market value in specific situations. The key inputs for 

this valuation technique are future income and the capitalisation rate. 

 

The capitalised construction costs is a valuation technique that reflects the amount of incurred construction costs 

that have been capitalised. The key input for this valuation technique are the incurred costs. 

 

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently 

withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 

derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 



amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised. 

 

3.11 Inventories 

 

Land and premises acquired and held for future development as well as in-process development projects (other than 

Investment Properties) are classified as Inventories. Inventories mainly comprise residential properties. 

 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value at the financial reporting date. 

 

The cost of in-process development projects comprises architectural design, engineering studies, raw materials, 

other production materials, direct labour, other direct and external borrowing costs directly attributable to the 

acquisition or construction of the qualifying inventories. 

 

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. A write-down is necessary when the net realizable 

value at the financial reporting date is lower than the carrying value. The Group performs regular reviews of the net 

realizable value of its inventories. 

 

 

3.12 Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill 

 

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 

determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if 

any). When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis 

of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise 

they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation 

basis can be identified. 

 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 

impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 

 

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, 

the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 

of future cash flows have not been adjusted. 

 

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is 

recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case 

the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease. 

 

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is 



increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 

exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 

asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in 

profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the 

impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

  



3.13 Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 

the amount of the obligation. 

 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 

obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 

obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 

carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material). 

 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 

party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the 

amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

 

3.14 Financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instruments. 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the 

financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 

recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 

3.15 Financial assets 

 

Classification of financial assets 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 

collect contractual cash flows; and 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 



 

Despite the foregoing, the Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a 

financial asset: 

 The Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in 

other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and 

 The Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost of FVTOCI criteria 

as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 

 

3.15.1 Amortised cost and effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating 

interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 

future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 

interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit losses, through the 

expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the 

debt instrument on initial recognition. 

 

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition 

minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 

difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross 

carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting any loss allowance. 

 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured subsequently at 

amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest 

income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. IF, in 

subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the 

financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to 

the gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 

 

3.15.2 Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that are 

measured at amortised cost, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets, as well as on financial guarantee 

contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk 

since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. 

 

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The expected 

credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit 

loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment 

of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money 

where appropriate. 

 

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been an significant increase in 

credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an 

amount equal to 12-month ECL. 



 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the expected 

life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to 

result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date. 

 

(i) Low credit risk 

The Group assumes that the credit risk on an financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial 

recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial 

instrument is determined to have low credit risk if: 

(1) The financial instrument has a low risk of default, 

(2) The debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term, and 

(3) Adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, 

reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 

 

The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment 

grade’ in accordance with the globally understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an 

internal rating of ‘performing’. Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is 

no past due amounts. 

 

(ii) Definition of default 

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management purposes 

as historical experience indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following criteria are generally not 

recoverable: 

 When there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or 

 Information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to 

pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral held by the Group). 

 

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 

90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging 

default criterion is more appropriate. 

 

(iii) Write-off policy 

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 

difficulty an there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has 

entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over two years past 

due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the 

Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 

recognised in profit or loss. 

 

3.15.3 Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 

or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to 

another party. On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the 

asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. 



3.16 Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

 

3.16.1 Equity instruments 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all 

of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct 

issue costs. 

 

3.16.2 Financial liabilities 

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method or at 

FVTPL. 

 

3.16.2.1 Financial liabilities at FVTPL 

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability is (i) contingent consideration that may 

be paid by an acquirer as part of a business combination to which IFRS 3 applies, (ii) held for trading, or (iii) it is 

designated as at FVTPL. 

 

Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising on changes in fair value 

recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the 

financial liability. 

 

3.16.2.2 Financial liabilities measured subsequently at amortised cost 

Financial liabilities that are not (i) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, (ii) held-for-

trading, or (iii) designated as at FVTPL, are measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest 

method. 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 

interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 

cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, 

transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or (where 

appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 

 

3.16.2.3 Derecognition of financial liabilities 

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group's obligations are discharged, 

cancelled or have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised 

and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

3.17 Leasing 

 

3.17.1 The Group as lessor 

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment properties. Leases for 

which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All 

other leases are classified as operating leases.  

 



Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial 

direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 

asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  

 

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net 

investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic 

rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.  

 

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the 

consideration under the contract to each component. 

 

3.17.2 The Group as lessee 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a 

right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, 

except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. 

For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the 

term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 

benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 

commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the 

Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.  

 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position. The lease 

liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using 

the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.  

 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at 

or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are 

subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Right-of-use assets are 

depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the 

commencement date of the lease.  

 

3.18 Borrowing costs 

 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which 

are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added 

to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 

qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. 

 

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

 



3.19 Taxation 

 

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 

 

3.19.1 Current tax 

 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from 'profit before tax' as 

reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of items of income or expense that are taxable or 

deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's current tax is calculated using 

tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period 

 

3.19.2 Deferred tax 

 

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 

generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will 

be available against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and 

liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business 

combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

 

In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 

of goodwill. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 

and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 

temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the 

extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset 

to be recovered. 

 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the 

liability is settled or the asset realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 

consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities, often based on industry practices. 

 

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other 

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.  

 

 



3.20 Revenue recognition 

 

3.20.1 Revenue  

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources: 

 Revenue from real estate services 

 Revenue from the sale of land 

 Revenue from development 

 Revenue from management fees  

 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes amounts 

collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control of a product or a service 

to a customer. 

 

Revenue from the real estate services 

The Group provides real estate services to third parties. Revenue is recognised over time as the services are 

rendered. The transaction price is a fixed fee per year. 

 

Revenue from the sale of land 

The Group sells plots of land and revenue is recognised when control of the land has transferred, being at the point 

when the notary deed is signed. Payment of the transaction is due immediately upon signature of the deed.  

 

Revenue from development 

The Group constructs and sells residential properties under long-term fixed price contracts with customers. Such 

contracts are entered into in the early stage of construction of the residential properties. Under the terms of the 

contracts, the Group is contractually restricted from redirecting the properties to another customer and has an 

enforceable right to payment for work done. Revenue from construction of residential properties is therefore 

recognised over time on a cost-to-cost method, i.e. based on the proportion of contract costs incurred for work 

performed to date relative to the estimated total contract costs. The Group considers that this input method is an 

appropriate measure of the progress towards complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under IFRS 15. 

 

The Group becomes entitled to invoice customers for construction of residential properties based on achieving a 

series of performance-related milestones. When a particular milestone is reached the customer is sent an invoice for 

the related milestone payment, based on a relevant statement of work prepared by a third party. The Group will 

previously have recognised a contract asset for any work performed. Any amount previously recognised as a 

contract asset is reclassified to trade receivables at the point at which it is invoiced to the customer. If the milestone 

payment exceeds the revenue recognised to date under the cost-to-cost method, then the Group recognises a contract 

liability for the difference. There is not considered to be a significant financing component in construction contracts 

with customers as the period between the recognition of revenue under the cost-to-cost method and the milestone 

payment is always less than one year. 

 

The amount of properties recognized as an expense during the period referred to as “Property Development 

Expenses” comprises costs directly related to the property development projects sold during the year.  

 

 



Revenue from management fees 

The Group provides its management services to its associates and joint ventures. Revenue is recognised over time as 

the services are rendered. The transaction price is a fixed fee per year.  

 

Contract costs 

Incremental costs incurred as a result of obtaining a contract are capitalised, if it is expected that these costs will be 

recovered. Costs that are incurred regardless of whether the contract is obtained are expensed as they are incurred 

unless they meet the criteria to be capitalised as fulfilment costs.  

 

If the costs incurred in fulfilling a contract with a customer are not within the scope of another Standard, the Group 

shall recognise an asset from the costs incurred to fulfil a contract only if those costs meet all of the following 

criteria:  

 the costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract that the entity can specifically identify; 

 the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to 

satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and 

 the costs are expected to be recovered. 

 

3.20.2 Property Rental income  

Rental income from Investment Properties leased is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 

incentives granted are recognized as an integral part of the total rental income (i.e. are spread over the lease term). 

 

3.20.3 Dividend and interest income 

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholder's right to receive payment has been 

established (provided that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of income 

can be measured reliably). 

 

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 

Group and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by 

reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net carrying 

amount on initial recognition. 

 

3.21 Foreign currencies 

 

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than the 

entity's functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates 

of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are 

retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated 

in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

 

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

 

 



For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's 

foreign operations are translated into Euros using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. 

Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates 

fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are 

used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 

equity (and attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). 

 

Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed through 

acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated 

at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are 

recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

The principal exchange rates versus EUR that have been used are as follows : 

 2022 2021 

  Closing rate at  

31 December 

Average rate for  

12 months 

Closing rate at  

31 December 

Average rate for  
12 months 

Romanian Lei 4.922 4.932 4.949 4.921 

 

3.22 Fair value measurements 

 

The group measures derivatives and investment properties at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value related 

disclosures for items measured at fair value or where fair values are disclosed are summarised in the individual 

notes, in particular Note 7 for Investment Properties. 

 

3.23 Assets held for sale 

 

Assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally 

through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset 

(or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are usual and 

customary for sales of such asset (or disposal group) and its sale is highly probable. Management must be committed 

to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of 

classification. 

 

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities 

of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, regardless of whether the 

Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the sale. When the Group is committed to a 

sale plan involving disposal of an investment, or a portion of an investment, in an associate or joint venture, the 

investment or the portion of the investment that will be disposed of is classified as held for sale when the criteria 

described above are met, and the Group discontinues the use of the equity method in relation to the portion that is 

classified a held for sale. Any retained portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has not been 

classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for using the equity method. The Group discontinues the use of 

the equity method at the time of disposal when the disposal results in the Group losing significant influence over the 

associate or joint venture. 

 



After the disposal takes place, the Group accounts for any retained interest in the associate or joint venture in 

accordance with IFRS 9 unless the retained interest continues to be an associate or a joint venture, in which case the 

Group uses the equity method (see the accounting policy regarding investments in associates or joint ventures 

above).  

 

Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying 

amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

 

 

 

4. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the Group are 

required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 

not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical 

experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 

recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of 

the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

 

4.1 Critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

 

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see note 4.2 below), that the 

directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant 

effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Revenue recognition 

When a contract for the sale of a property upon completion of construction is judged to meet the criteria of 

recognition over time, revenue is recognised using the percentage of completion method as construction progresses. 

The Group considers the terms and conditions of the contract, including how the contract was negotiated and the 

structural elements that the customer specifies when identifying individual projects for which the revenues are 

recognised over time. The percentage of completion is estimated by reference to the stage of the projects and 

contracts determined based on the proportion of contract costs incurred to date and the estimated costs to complete. 

Furthermore, the proportion of units sold to the total units of the project are taken into account for the estimation of 

the percentage of completion. 

 

Classification of property 

The Group determines whether a property is classified as investment property, inventory or contract assets: 

 Investment property comprises buildings (principally non-residential properties) that are not occupied 

substantially for use by, or in the operations of, the Group, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, 

but are held primarily to earn rental income and capital appreciation. These buildings are substantially 

rented to tenants. Investment property comprises property for which a valid permit is obtained and 

construction has commenced. 

 Inventory comprises land and buildings that is held for sale in the ordinary course of business for which no 



building permit is obtained, construction has not started and, in case of a residential project, no sales 

contract has yet been signed.  

 Contract assets comprises residential property for which a valid permit is obtained, construction has 

commenced and a sales contract is signed. 

 

4.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

 

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

end of the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a material misstatement to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

 

Estimation of net realisable value for inventory  

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV). 

 

NRV for completed inventory is assessed by reference to market conditions and prices existing at the reporting date 

and is determined by the Group, based on comparable transactions identified by the Group for properties in the same 

geographical market serving the same real estate segment. 

 

NRV in respect of inventory under construction is assessed with reference to market prices at the reporting date for 

similar completed property, less estimated costs to complete construction and an estimate of the time value of 

money to the date of completion. 

 

Valuation of investment property 

The fair value of investment property is determined by real estate valuation experts using recognised valuation 

techniques and the principles of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. 

 

Investment property under construction is measured based on estimates prepared by independent real estate 

valuation experts, except where such values cannot be reliably determined, in which case the properties are 

measured at cost. The significant methods and assumptions used by valuation experts in estimating the fair value of 

investment property are set out in Note 7. 

 



5 Intangible assets

All figures in Euro

 Software  Client list Total

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2021 1.649.439     250.000         1.899.439     

Additions 240.049         240.049         

Additions/disposals through business combinations

Disposals 4.070 -            4.070 -            

Foreign exchange differences 7 -                    7 -                    

Balance at 31 December 2021 1.885.411     250.000         2.135.411     

Additions -                  -                  

Additions/disposals through business combinations

Disposals -                  -                  

Transfer 98.591           

Foreign exchange differences -                  

Balance at 31 December 2022 1.984.002     250.000         2.234.002     

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2021 744.950 -        87.500 -          832.450 -        

Amortisation expense 217.171 -        50.000 -          267.171 -        

Impairment losses recognised in profit and loss -                  

Eliminated on disposal of assets 478                 478                 

Foreign exchange differences 6                     6                     

Balance at 31 December 2021 961.637 -        137.500 -        1.099.137 -    

Amortisation expense 241.153 -        50.000 -          291.153 -        

Impairment losses recognised in profit and loss -                  

Eliminated on disposal of assets -                  

Foreign exchange differences -                  

Balance at 31 December 2022 1.202.790 -    187.500 -        1.390.290 -    

Carrying amounts @ 31/12/2021 923.774         112.500         1.036.274     

Carrying amounts @ 31/12/2022 781.212         62.500           843.712         

There are no items of Intangible assets pledged as security for liabilities.



6 Property, plant & equipment

All figures in Euro

 Machinery & 

equipment 
Buildings Furniture Total

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2021 693.388         11.223           2.832.845     3.537.456     

Additions 45.941           -                  139.327         185.268         

Additions through business combinations -                  -                  -                  -                  

Disposals 54 -                  352.337 -        352.391 -        

Other 889.072 -        889.072 -        

Foreign exchange differences -                  -                  

Balance at 31 December 2021 739.275         11.223           1.730.763     2.481.261     

Additions 832.641         -                  1.118.205     1.950.845     

Additions through business combinations -                  -                  -                  -                  

Transfer 1.972.174     11.223 -          768.261 -        1.192.690     

Disposals -                  

Other -                  

Foreign exchange differences -                  -                  

Balance at 31 December 2022 3.544.089     -                  2.080.707     5.624.796     

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2021 351.352 -        11.223 -          1.273.060 -    1.635.635 -    

Depreciation expense 79.023 -          -                  250.646 -        329.669 -        

Impairment losses recognised in profit and loss -                  -                  -                  

Eliminated on disposal of assets -                  21.406           21.406           

Other -                  224.531         224.531         

Foreign exchange differences -                  -                  -                  

Balance at 31 December 2021 430.375 -        11.223 -          1.277.769 -    1.719.367 -    

Depreciation expense 211.388 -        -                  171.646 -        383.033 -        

Transfer 245.696 -        11.223           42.813 -          277.287 -        

Impairment losses recognised in profit and loss -                  -                  -                  -                  

Eliminated on disposal of assets -                  -                  -                  -                  

Other -                  -                  -                  -                  

Foreign exchange differences -                  -                  -                  -                  

Balance at 31 December 2022 887.459 -        -                  1.492.228 -    2.379.687 -    

Carrying amounts @ 31/12/2021 308.900         -                  452.994         761.894         

Carrying amounts @ 31/12/2022 2.656.630     -                  588.479         3.245.109     

There are no items of Property, Plant & Equipment pledged as security for liabilities.



7 Investment Properties

All figures in Euro

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Balance at beginning of year 271.488.811           272.866.998          

Additions 10.966.979             12.599.729             

Gain/(loss) on property revaluations 10.336.979 -            2.243.303 -              

Transfer from/to other asset classes 750.039 -                  11.734.614 -            

Balance at end of year 271.368.772           271.488.811          

Commercial name Country
 Fair value 

hierarchy level 
Valuation method 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

 Events (Maison de la Poste, Sheds) Belgium 3                               
 Capitalisation of 

rental income 
32.110.000        31.990.000        

 Parking lot (Outside parking lot, Underground 

parking lot) 
Belgium 3                               

 Capitalisation of 

rental income 
46.170.000        47.670.000        

 Offices (Gare Maritime, Hôtel des Douanes and 

Atelier des Tracteurs) 
Belgium 3                               

 Capitalisation of 

rental income 
192.323.167      191.033.167      

 Semi-industrial & other properties Belgium 3                               

 Capitalisation of 

rental income / 

Discounted cash flow 

of income 

765.605              795.643              

271.368.772      271.488.810      

  - Crown Worldwide

  - Kontich - Groeningenlei

All investment properties were valued by an independent valuator, Cushman and Wakefield, with the exception of following properties:

Investment properties comprise commercial buildings and as such the buy-and-sell transactions in the same market for similar properties are infrequent. 

Consequently, the Group engages an independent valuer who uses a valuation technique requiring the estimation of future rental income and yield for 

the properties. As such, the fair value of these properties are classified as Level 3 in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value 

Measurement, due to the use of significant unobservable inputs in estimating the fair values.

The additions in Investment Property mainly relate to the projects under development Gare Maritime, Hôtel des Douanes and the Sheds. 



For the investment property categorised into Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, the following information is relevant

Valuation technique

No range or average is disclosed because it would not give a fair representation of the inputs considering the mix in use

Pledged amount of investment properties as security for financial liabilities amounts to EUR 147,675,000 (2021: EUR 160,242,000).

Capitalisation of income

Significant unobservable inputs

 Future income (often rental income), 

taking into account the differences in 

location and individual factors between 

the comparables and the property. 

Sensitivity

 An increase in the income would result 

in an increase in fair value, and vice 

versa. 

Discounted cash flow of income

 Capitalisation rate, taking into account 

the capitalisation of income potential, 

nature of the property and prevailing 

market condition. 

 An increase in the capitalisation rate 

would result in a significant decrease in 

fair value, and vice versa. 

 Capitalisation rate, taking into account 

the capitalisation of income potential, 

nature of the property and prevailing 

market condition. 

 An increase in the capitalisation rate 

would result in a significant decrease in 

fair value, and vice versa. 

 Future income (often rental income), 

taking into account the differences in 

location and individual factors between 

the comparables and the property. 

 An increase in the income would result 

in an increase in fair value, and vice 

versa. 



8 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

All figures in Euro

Investments in Joint Ventures

Name
Country of 

incorporation
Principal activity 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Belgium
Real estate 

development
50,00% 50,00%

Belgium
Real estate 

development
50,00% 50,00%

Luxembourg
Real estate 

development
50,00% 50,00%

Luxembourg
Real estate 

development
50,00% 50,00%

Luxembourg
Real estate 

development
0,00% 45,00%

Darwin II SàRL Luxembourg
Real estate 

development
50,00% 50,00%

Emerald I SàRL Luxembourg
Real estate 

development
50,00% 50,00%

NEIF III Kockelscheuer SàRL Luxembourg
Real estate 

development
0,00% 45,00%

White House I SàRL Luxembourg
Real estate 

development
50,00% 50,00%

Niederanven I SàRL Luxembourg
Real estate 

development
50,00% 0,00%

Belgium
Real estate 

development
50,00% 50,00% *

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Balance at 1 January 52.161.691              31.447.292              

Acquisition of investment -                             731.250                   

Net income from joint ventures 16.437.494              20.237.482              

Provision for negative equity 170.648                   291.006 -                  

Dividend received from joint ventures -                             -                             

Disposal of investment 9.660.597 -               36.673                     

Balance at 31 December 59.109.236             52.161.691             

Goodwill included in carrying amount of investments 

in joint ventures
-                             336.904                   

Proportion of ownership interest and 

voting rights held

CBS Development NV

CBS-Invest NV

During 2022, the Group has sold its 45% participation in Darwin I SàRL and NEIF III Kockelscheuer SàRL. No gain or loss is recognised in the 

Statement of Profit and Loss at this moment, because the Group's stake was recognised at fair value. 

Les Jardins de Oisquercq NV

Darwin I SàRL

Grossfeld Immobilière SA

Grossfeld PAP SICAV-RAIF SA



Summarised financial information of Grossfeld PAP

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Profit (loss) before interest and taxation 32.509.000              19.004.000              

Taxation 12.000 -                    6.000 -                      

Profit (loss)  for the year 32.497.000             19.026.000             

Profit (loss) attributable to  owners of the company 16.179.352              9.513.000                

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Non-current assets 3.000                       28.371                     

Current Assets 378.214.000           339.339.651           

Total Assets 378.217.000           339.368.022           

Non-current liabilities 68.418.000              105.364.581           

Current liabilities 179.434.000           133.253.782           

Total Liabilities 247.852.000           238.618.363           

Net assets 130.365.000           100.749.659           

Group's share of net assets 64.181.000              48.807.358              

The contribution of Grossfeld PAP in the total amount of investments in joint ventures (2022: EUR 59,109,235) amounts to 90%. Considering 

the significant contribution, the summarised financial information of Grossfeld PAP is provided in the table below:



31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Les Jardins de Oisquercq Belgium 1.367.831                1.197.183                

1.367.831                1.197.183                

Extensa Group granted a guarantee in favor of the BIL (Banque Internationale à Luxembourg) to cover the risk of a bank facility granted to the 

subsidiaries of the fund Grossfeld PAP SA SICAV-FIAR with respect to its residential development. The guarantee concerns interest payments, 

commissions and fees. Since the business outlook of its underlying projects is positive, the recourse on this guarantee risk is deemed as 

remote. 

Name of Joint venture

Country of 

incorporation and 

operation

Recognised share of losses

The Group recognises its share of losses of an investee (because the losses exceed the carrying amount of its investment) 

to the extent that the Group is liable to carry these losses. This information is disclosed below:

Extensa Group granted a corporate guarantee of EUR 3,2 million in favor of the BIL (Banque Internationale à Luxembourg) to cover the risk of a 

bank facility granted to the fund Grossfeld PAP SA SICAV-FIAR with respect to its land portfolio. Since the business outlook of its underlying 

projects is seemingly positive, the recourse on this guarantee risk is deemed as remote. 

The Group has no other contingent liabilities or commitments towards its joint ventures.

Extensa Group granted a guarantee in favor of the BGL to cover the risk of a bank facility granted to the subsidiaries of the fund Grossfeld PAP 

SA SICAV-FIAR with respect to its office developments. The guarantee concerns cash flow deficiency, development cost overrun capped to 7% 

as well as cost overrun relating to registration duties. Since the business outlook of its underlying projects is positive and the development cost 

overrun is capped, the recourse on this guarantee risk is deemed as remote. 



9 Finance lease receivable

All figures in Euro

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Within one year 700.349             672.951             

After one year but not later than five years 1.660.380         3.033.679         

Later than five years

Present value of minimum lease payments receivable 2.360.729         3.706.630         

Present value of minimum lease 

payments

The interest rate inherent in the lease is 1.9% (2021: 1.9%) and is fixed for the remaining lease term. 

The finance lease receivable at the end of the reporting period is neither past due nor impaired.

The finance lease receivable relates to the lease of a building with a remaining lease term of 2 years (2021: 3 years) 

(total lease term from commencement is 25 years).



10 Income taxes
All figures in Euro

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Current tax
In respect of the current year 1.622.144 -               733.089 -                   

In respect of prior years 42.911                     741.662                    

1.579.234 -               8.573                        

Deferred tax
In respect of the current year 293.526 -                  17 -                            

293.526 -                  17 -                            

Total income tax expense 1.872.760 -               8.556                        

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Profit before tax 2.306.646                20.165.272              

Share in the net profit (loss) of equity accounted investments 16.437.494 -            20.237.482 -             

Adjusted profit before tax 14.130.848 -            72.210 -                     

Income tax expense calculated at 25% 3.532.712                18.053                      

Adjusted for:

Non-taxable income -                            116.916                    

Taxable income of joint ventures 3.128.595 -               3.365.833 -               

Non-deductible expenses 15.784 -                    130.265 -                   

Utilisation and recognition of previously unrecognised tax losses 1.441.516                2.412.814                

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 0 323.644 -                   

Other 538.854                    

1.829.849                733.106 -                   

Adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years 42.911                     741.662                    

Income tax expense recognised in profit and loss 1.872.760                8.556                        

Effective tax rate of the year 13% 12%

Current tax receivables 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

VAT receivable 2.805.589                12.497.495              

Income tax receivable 8.454.298                1.931.446                

Total 11.259.887             14.428.941              

Current tax liabilities 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Income tax liabilities 10.081.668             7.770.339                

VAT liabilities 1.885.578                517.696                    

Social tax liabilities 378.942                   1.830.978                

Total 12.346.188             10.119.013              

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Tax losses 9.594.199                9.214.000                

Tax advances 1.135.964                943.373                    

Total 10.730.163             10.157.373              

Deferred tax liabilities 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Remeasurement on land position 17.267.111             15.163.029              

Investment property 5.328.715                9.649.999                

Contract assets & inventories 6.735.610                6.641.028                

Other -                            294.348 -                   

Total 29.331.436             31.159.708              

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

Deferred taxes on the consolidated statement of financial position refers to the following temporary differences:



11 Inventories

All figures in Euros

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Land portfolio 98.257.496                     112.772.129                  

Other -                                    458.873                          

98.257.496                     113.231.002                  

12 Contract assets

All figures in Euros

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

88.930.494                    108.435.226                   

Less: Progress billings 2.233.782 -                     42.893.234 -                    

86.696.713                    65.541.992                     

Contract assets relate to the projects Riva and Park Lane in Belgium and Cloche d'Or in Luxembourg. 

Please refer to note 18 for further explanation.

The increase in Contract assets is mainly explained by a transfer of the building Montoyer 14 from investment 

properties to inventory.

Construction costs incurred plus recognised profits 

less recognised losses to date

The construction in progress in 2022 included in inventories relates to residential projects in progress for which the 

Group does not yet have a signed sales agreement. 

Inventories pledged as security for financial liabilities in 2022 is EUR 34,785,087 (2021: EUR 37,998,315).

Contract assets concern amounts due by clients in respect of projects in progress. Costs incurred on these contract 

assets are reduced by customer payments received in accordance with a series of performance-related 

milestones. 



13 Trade and other receivables

All figures in Euro

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Trade receivables 8.087.530                 11.691.797                 

Advances to related parties 12.077.090               21.121.278                 

Less: Allowance for doubtful debts 63.127 -                     197.779 -                      

20.101.493               32.615.296                 

Other receivables 27.011.332               14.893.130                 

47.112.825              60.005.921                 

The amortised cost balances of Trade and other receivables also reflect their fair market values.

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Balance at beginning of the year 197.779 -                   223.290 -                      

Impairment losses recognised on receivables -                              1.574 -                          

Amounts written off during the year as uncollectible -                              -                                

Allowances utilised during the year -                              27.085                         

Impairment losses reversed 134.652                    -                                

Balance at end of the year 63.127 -                     197.779 -                      

Non-current receivables 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Other receivables 6.250.000                 5.377.240                   

14 Cash & cash equivalents

All figures in Euro

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Cash and bank balances 26.689.980               61.044.048                 

There are no restricted cash balances.

The average credit period is 60 days. There are no significant receivables that are past due but not impaired. 

Non-current receivables relate to the real estate certificates emitted by Grossfeld PAP, in which Extensa Group 

has invested during the year 2019.



15 Financial liabilities

All figures in Euro Effective interest 

rate Maturity Pledges
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

%

Non-current borrowings

Tour & Taxis 191.388.999        167.091.250        

EUR 31.7 million bank loan 1,35% 31/12/2025 Property & shares 28.507.500          30.091.250          

EUR 100 million bank loan 1,35% 31/12/2025 Property & shares 96.250.000          97.000.000          

EUR 6 million bank loan 1,20% 31/12/2025 Property & shares 6.000.000             6.000.000             

EUR 25 million bank loan 1,70% 01/06/2025 Property & shares 15.000.000          -                         

EUR 27,2 million bank loan 1,50% 17/02/2024 Property & shares 16.231.499          -                         

EUR 34 million bank loan 1,60% 31/01/2024 Property & shares 29.400.000          34.000.000          

EMTN program 39.761.128          39.599.036          

4 year bonds (2020) 3,38% 05/06/2024 Unsecured 39.761.128          39.599.036          

231.150.127        206.690.286        

Effective interest 

rate Maturity Pledges
31/12/2022 31/12/2021

%

Current borrowings

Tour & Taxis 2.534.596             4.583.750             

EUR 31.7 million bank loan 1,35% 31/12/2025 Property & shares 1.673.348             1.583.750             

EUR 100 million bank loan 1,35% 31/12/2025 Property & shares 750.000                3.000.000             

EUR 27,2 million bank loan 1,50% 17/02/2024 Property & shares 93.048                  -                         

EUR 6 million bank loan 1,20% 31/12/2025 Property & shares 18.200                  -                         

EMTN program -                         44.920.289          

5 year bonds (2017) 3,00% 29/06/2022 Unsecured -                         44.920.289          

2.534.596             49.504.039          

Interest is paid at a minimum on an annual basis. All capital repayments are made at maturity.

The balances of the Financial liabilities are not materially different to their fair market values.

The Group incurred transaction costs of EUR 656,000 related to the EMTN bond program of 2020. These transaction costs were 

included in the initial recognition of the liability.

The Group granted a guarantee in favor of BNP Paribas Fortis & Belfius Bank relating to the EUR 100 million, EUR 34 million, EUR 31.7 

million, EUR 6 million, EUR 25 million and EUR 27.2 million bank loans. 

Fixed interest rates are applied on the borrowings following the EMTN program whereas variable interest rates are applied on the 

other borrowings of the Group. Please refer also to note 26.



Existing loan covenants are detailed below:

Tour & Taxis Required 31/12/2022 31/12/2021 Required 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

EUR 31.7 million bank loan < 75% 64% 67%  > 1.15 1,26 1,93

EUR 6 million bank loan (i) < 70% 28% 29%  > 2.25 4,68 0,35

EUR 34 million bank loan < 45% 28% 24% N/A N/A N/A

EUR 100 million bank loan < 70% 54% 55%  > 1.15 2,09 N/A

EMTN program Required 31/12/2022 31/12/2021 Required 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

5 year bonds  > 100,000,000 273.973.977     273.029.099     > 30% 44% 42%

4 year bonds  > 100,000,000 273.973.977     273.029.099     > 30% 44% 42%

CP program Required 31/12/2022 31/12/2021 Required 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Backup commercial papers  > 175,000,000 273.973.977     273.029.099     > 30% 44% 42%

15.1 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

All figures in Euro

Cash changes

01/01/2022

Financing 

cash flows Participation fee

Reclassification 

long-term to 

short-term

Foreign 

exchange

Finance 

expense 31/12/2022

Bank loans 171.675.000     22.248.595       -                       -                     -                     -                     193.923.595     

Bonds 84.519.325        44.920.289 -      -                       -                     -                     162.092           39.761.128        

Other credit lines -                       -                       -                       -                     -                     -                     -                       

Long-term payables -                       -                       -                       -                     -                     -                     -                       

Lease liability 90.543               -                       -                       -                     -                     -                     90.543               

256.284.868     22.671.694 -      -                       -                     -                     162.092           233.775.267     

Cash changes

01/01/2021

Financing 

cash flows Participation fee

Reclassification 

long-term to 

short-term

Foreign 

exchange

Finance 

expense 31/12/2021

Bank loans 171.675.000     -                       -                       -                     -                     -                     171.675.000     

Bonds 84.211.162        -                       308.163             -                     -                     -                     84.519.325        

Commercial papers -                       -                       -                       -                     -                     -                     -                       

Other credit lines -                       -                       -                       -                     -                     -                     -                       

Long-term payables -                       -                       -                       -                     -                     -                     -                       

Lease liability 136.025             52.318 -              -                       -                     -                     6.835                90.543               

256.022.187     52.318 -              308.163             -                     -                     6.835               256.284.868     

Non-cash changes

Non-cash changes

Loan to value ratio Interest coverage ratio

Net worth (iii) Net worth to Total liabilities

Net worth (iii) Net worth to Total liabilities

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities 

arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of 

cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

There are no breaches of the Group's loan covenants per 31.12.2022. 



16 Trade and Other Payables

All figures in Euro

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Current payables

Trade payables 30.919.645      29.007.100      

Other payables 12.846.201      8.731.074         

43.765.846      37.738.174      

Trade payables have payment terms between 30 and 60 days in general and are non-interest bearing.

The balances of the Trade and Other Payables also reflect their fair market values.

17 Provisions

All figures in Euro

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Contractual obligations 1.600.792         5.956.652         

Recognised share of losses in joint ventures 1.367.831         1.197.183         

2.968.623         7.153.835         

Current 1.157.703         5.505.354         

Non-current 1.810.919         1.648.481         

2.968.622         7.153.835         

The contractual obligations relate mainly to the Herman Teirlinck property that was sold as part of the sale of VAC 

De Meander in 2017. 

Please refer to the Investments  in Associates and Joint Ventures note for details on the recognised share of losses in 

joint ventures.

Other payables are mainly related to payable positions with associates and joint ventures. 



18 Accrued charges and deferred income

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Accrued interest charges 2.155.487             1.823.780             

Deferred project income 23.824.203           27.176.448           

Deferred rental income 473.542                 171.243                 

Other accruals 1.466.934             1.181.327             

27.920.166           30.352.799           

Deferred project income relates to the real estate development projects on the Cloche d'Or site in Luxembourg.



19 Revenue

All figures in Euro Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Revenue from real estate services -                          1.957.126             

Revenue from the sale of land (point in time) -                          -                          

Revenue from development 65.215.378           48.051.065           

Revenue from management fees -                          145.000                 

65.215.378           50.153.191           

Revenue from real estate services & revenue from management fees

Revenue from the sale of land

Revenue from development

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Revenue from real estate services -                          -                          

Revenue from the sale of land -                          -                          

Revenue from development 18.410.000           22.727.385           

Revenue from management fees -                          -                          

18.410.000           22.727.385           

Revenue from real estate services concern third parties- and management fees related parties. 

Please see note 29 for the details of related party transactions. Please see note 28 for disaggregation of the Group's 

revenue based on geography.

Both in 2021 and 2022 no land was sold.

Construction on project Park Lane, located at Tour & Taxis (Belgium), commenced in 2019 and consists of 319 

residential units. As per 31 December 2022, only 11 units are still for sale. 

The following table shows the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that 

are committed by customers as at the end of the reporting period.

Management expects that 100% of the transaction price allocated to the committed contracts as of 31 december 

2022 will be recognised as revenue during the next reporting period (EUR 18,410,000).



20 Property rental income

All figures in Euro Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Property rental income 8.908.449             8.952.379             

The Group derives its rental income from the following real estate properties:

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Events 633.968                 1.026.432             

Parking lot 2.288.769             1.603.609             

Offices 4.793.196             4.889.618             

Retail 810.725                 

Development -                          27.700                   

Remaining property rental income 381.791                 1.405.020             

The real estate properties "Events" and "Parking lot" concern short term contracts.

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Within 1 year 703.919                 5.598.215             

After 1 year but not later than 5 years 6.451.279             18.628.581           

Later than 5 years 60.424.588           38.185.465           

Total 67.579.786           62.412.261           

21 Other operating income

All figures in Euro Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Other operating income 3.383.475             9.062.140             

Other operating income relates to the real estate development projects on the Cloche d'Or site in Luxembourg. The Cloche 

d'Or project, located in Luxembourg, consists both of residential and office developments. 

The evolution in revenue is mainly related to the progress in the project's construction. 

The ongoing residential projects in Luxembourg include a total of 345 units of which already 330 have been sold during the 

period 2019-2022. 

During 2022 two office projects (called 'Darwin I' and 'NEIF III Kockelscheuer') were sold. Reference is also made to note 8. 

The below table discloses the non-cancellable operating lease income mainly related to Offices:



22 Property Development expenses

All figures in Euro Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Expenses associated to real estate services -                            3.115.295 -          

Expenses related to sold land -                            -                        

Expenses related to development 62.793.129 -            37.725.613 -        

62.793.129 -            40.840.908 -        

23 Employee expenses

All figures in Euro Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Salaried employees 4.781.164 -              2.374.863 -          

Consultants 1.908.456 -              5.949.975 -          

6.689.620 -              8.324.838 -          

24 Other operating expenses

All figures in Euro

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Other operating expenses comprises:

Marketing expenses 736.645                  687.719                  

External consulting fees 469.585                  4.979.581              

Rent & maintenance expenses 3.731.498               2.875.118              

Expenses to be reinvoiced to tenants 3.070.066               3.093.718              

Reinvoiced to tenants 2.848.201 -              -                          

Utilities -                            256.379                  

Operational taxes 634.043                  666.421                  

Interim personnel -                            236.303                  

Other expenses 2.760.755               147.928                  

Vacancy charges 387.469                  -                          

Total 8.941.860               12.943.167            

Please refer to the Revenue note for details on the projects. 

Expenses related to real estate services are included 'other operating expenses', reference is made 

to note 24.

The decrease in consultant expenses is mainly a result of renegotiations of contracts with consultants 

at the level of Nextensa NV instead of Extensa Group resulting in internal recharges instead of 

immediate invoicing towards Extensa Group. As of 2022, consultant costs attributable to projects are 

both included in Property development expenses and the share in the net profit (loss) of equity 

accounted investments. 

Employee expenses include EUR 40k pension costs related to the contribution to the group insurance 

plan. There is no material underfunding.

The decrease in other operating expenses is mainly a result of a decrease in external consulting 

fees, which are now invoiced from Nextensa NV to Extensa Group (included in 'Other expenses' if 

related to overhead performances and included in 'Property development expenses' if attributable 

to projects).   



25 Finance income

All figures in Euro Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Interest income from investments 269.078                    221.005                    

Interest on loans to related parties 3.096.003                 2.271.898                 

Interest on cash balances -                              -                              

Other financial income -                              90                              

Foreign exchange gains -                              -                              

3.365.082                 2.492.993                 

26 Finance expenses

All figures in Euro Year ended Year ended

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Interest on third party loans 5.131.549                 5.761.333                 

Interest on lease liabilities -                              6.835                         

Foreign exchange losses -                              87.032                      

Other interest expense 698.420                    466.919                    

5.829.969                 6.322.119                 

Less: capitalised interests -                              551.556 -                   

5.829.969                 5.770.563                 

Interest income from investments relates mainly to interest income on loans provided to development partners, 

that are non-related parties.



27 Financial Instruments

All figures in Euro

27.1 Capital management

27.1.1 Total equity/total assets ratio

The ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Corrected equity (i) 273.973.977       273.029.099           

Total assets 615.786.692       646.873.770           

Total equity/Total assets 44% 42%

27.2 Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets Amortised cost Fair value level

Cash and cash equivalents 26.689.980         

Trade and other receivables 64.622.712         

Contract assets 86.696.712         

Finance lease receivable 2.360.729            

180.370.133       

Financial liabilities Amortised cost Fair value level

Borrowings 233.684.723       

Trade and other payables 56.112.035         

Lease liability 90.543                 

289.887.301       

Financial assets Amortised cost Fair value level

Cash and cash equivalents 61.044.048         

Trade and other receivables 65.383.160         

Contract assets 65.541.992         

Finance lease receivable 3.706.630            

195.675.830       

Financial liabilities Amortised cost Fair value level

Borrowings 256.194.325       

Trade and other payables 38.255.870         

Lease liability 90.543                 

294.540.738       

27.3 Financial risk management objectives

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to insure its ability to continue as a going concern and to support its strategic growth plans.  To optimize the 

capital structure, the Group may decide to issue bonds or similar instruments in financial markets. 

Management closely monitors solvency, liquidity, equity returns and profitability levels. The Group monitors the capital and statement of financial position 

structure primarily based on the total equity to total assets ratio.

(i) Corrected equity includes equity, excluding intangible assets as required by the loan agreements.

Due to its activities, the Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including exchange rate risk, price risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit 

risk and liquidity risk. 

Financial risks usually relate to the following financial instruments: trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other payables and borrowings. The 

Group uses derivative financial instruments on an ad hoc basis to hedge against the exposures arising from specific transactions.  

Financial risks are managed at the level of Nextensa, parent company of Extensa, by the management committee, under supervision of the Board of Directors. 

31/12/2022

31/12/2021



27.4

31/12/2022 31/12/2021 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Extensa Romania 6.018 6.435 38.066 55.892

27.5

The group issued the following EMTN bonds:

• 45 M€ due 27 June 2022, bearing an interest of 3.00%, issued in 2017 and reimbursed in June 2022

• 40 M€ due 5 June 2024, bearing an interest of 3.375%, issued in 2020

27.5.1 Interest rate sensitivity

AssetsLiabilities

Interest rate risk management

The Group actively uses external and internal borrowings to finance its real estate development projects in Belgium, Luxembourg and Romania. A project’s 

external financing is usually in the form of a bank loan denominated in Euro. 

Except for some ad-hoc interest rate hedging in the past, the Group did not enter into significant external interest rate hedging transactions to eliminate exposure 

arising from the long-term investment loans over the last 5 years. The Group’s management closely monitors the short-term floating rate borrowings and medium 

term fixed interest rates.

The financing structure reflects major project investment phases (i.e. acquisition of land, construction and holding of the properties) as follows: 

• Land acquisition loans (usually provided for a term of two years). The interest is payable at market floating rates (from 1 up to 6 months) increased by a margin. 

• Construction loans provided until completion of construction and obtaining of the exploitation permit (usually for a term of about two years). The interest is 

calculated at market floating rates (from 1 up to 6 months) increased by a margin and mostly capitalized in the construction loan. The land acquisition loan is at 

this stage integrated into the construction loan.

• Once the property is completed, leased and meets all ongoing covenants, the construction financing is swapped into an investment loan repayable gradually 

with rental income or fully upon sale of the property. 

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rate for floating rate non-derivative instruments at the end of the 

reporting period. The analysis excludes loans that are capitalised to fixed assets in accordance with IAS 23 Borrowing costs, as interest rate changes in these loans 

would not directly impact the profit. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of the liability outstanding at the end of the 

reporting period was outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management 

personnel and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible changes in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group's result for the year ended 31 December 2022 would 

decrease/increase by EUR 968.615 (2021: EUR 858.375) without taking into account negative interest rates.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

Foreign currency risk management

The Group operates internationally and enters into transactions in foreign currencies (2022 and 2021: Romanian RON). The major part of the Group’s financial 

assets and financial liabilities are however denominated in Euro, which is the Group's functional currency.

The Group concludes most of its engineering and architectural contracts, main construction contracts and the main part of its financing contracts in Euro.  The 

Group mitigates its currency risk exposure by matching as much as possible the currency of the income with that of the expenditure.

As at 31 December 2022, there were no outstanding amounts covered by hedging contracts.

Despite these closely monitored initiatives and as a consequence of its international activity, foreign exchange risks may still affect the Group’s financial position 

and results.



27.6 Operational risk

Price risk

Market risk

Permit risk

Construction risk

Financing risk

Commercial risk

27.7 Credit risk

Raw materials, supplies, labour and other costs directly related to the construction process constitute a major part of the property development assets capitalized 

in the accounts of the Group’s project companies. Although construction prices may vary during each accounting year, the Group generally limits its operational 

risk by entering into fixed price contracts. 

Before starting an investment, the Group’s management teams perform market research, which comprises of the following: 

• Status of the project’s current zoning (eventual timing for rezoning necessary) 

• Attitude of the local authorities towards the project 

• Comparable projects being launched (timing and location)

• Profile of potential buyers/tenants 

• Reasonable delivery date of the project 

• Projected sale/lease prices at the date of delivery 

• Yield expectations at that time

A detailed advance study of the existing master plan or zoning plans substantially reduces the risks on obtaining building permits. On this issue, it is the Group’s 

policy to closely monitor new construction regulations and respect the interests of the city authorities. One should of course differentiate between the type of 

projects, their location and specific country principles.

Construction risks are monitored by in-house project managers. They estimate construction cost as from the date of the initial feasibility study and account for 

material discrepancies. The tracking of detailed budgets, the choice of materials / techniques and the monitoring of construction prices constitute therefore a 

continuous process to avoid cost overruns and delivery delays.

The Group continues to have strong commercial relationships with all major banking partners present in its operating countries. 

In 2020, the Group has also proved to be able to call upon alternative financing through the issue of EMTN bonds in Belgium (total of EUR 40 million).

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets, except that the credit risk 

associated with finance lease receivables is mitigated because they are secured over the leased building.

In addition, the Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to financial guarantees given to banks. The Group's maximum exposure in this respect is the maximum 

amount the Group could have to pay if the guarantee is called upon. Refer to note 15.

Refer to the Accounting policies (note 3) for details on the Group's basis for recognising expected credit losses. No significant allowances for non-payment were 

necessary in the current or previous year. Refer to note 13.

Certain major projects require (internal) pre-lease levels, depending on the project scale, location, market environment or project typology. Smaller projects are 

started up without pre-leases. This set-up immediately triggers the involvement of both internal sales staff and/or external brokers. The Group’s track record 

shows at least a 50% (or more) leasing level before the end of construction works.

Credit risk may arise from credit exposures with respect to tenants (mostly renowned international companies) and residential buyers. However, credit risk is 

limited due to the nature of the Group's business. The Group does not have significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty. There is no significant credit 

risk relating to Contract assets and Cash and cash equivalents.



27.8 Liquidity risk

31/12/2022

Average 

effective 

rate

Less than 

1 month
1 to 3 months

3 months 

to 1 year
1 to 5 years

More than 

5 years
Total amount Carrying amount

Variable interest rate 

instruments
1,51% -                   1.145.938      3.437.813      193.722.738       198.306.488           193.923.595    

Fixed interest rate 

instruments
3,38% -                   338.000         1.014.000      40.676.000         42.028.000             39.761.128      

-                   1.483.938      4.451.813      234.398.738      -                         240.334.488          233.684.723    

31/12/2021

Average 

effective 

rate

Less than 

1 month
1 to 3 months

3 months 

to 1 year
1 to 5 years

More than 

5 years
Total amount Carrying amount

Variable interest rate 

instruments
1,51% 581.447         1.162.894      5.233.022      173.356.804       180.334.166           171.675.000    

Fixed interest rate 

instruments
3,19% 3.967.030      7.934.061      35.703.274    42.271.971         89.876.336             84.519.325      

4.548.477      9.096.955      40.936.296    215.628.775      -                         270.210.502          256.194.325    

The Group has access to financing facilities of which EUR 24.406.315 were unused at the reporting date (2021: EUR 50.000.000).

27.9 Foreign political and economic risk

A prudent management of liquidity risks implies maintaining the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the 

nature of the underlying business activities, the Group actively uses external and internal funds to ensure that timely resources are always available to cover 

capital needs. The liquidity position is monitored by management based on forecasts encompassing 24 to 36 months.

Minor operations and/or projects are located in Romania. As a result, the development of these projects and the upstreaming of related revenues are subject to 

certain inherent risks to these countries which may include, but are not limited to unfavourable political, regulatory and tax conditions. 

The total amount in the tables below includes nominal amount and interest component, whereas the carrying amount only includes the nominal outstanding 

amount.



28 Segment reporting

All figures in Euro

2022 Belgium Luxembourg Other Total

Revenue from development 65.215.378       -                      65.215.378            

Revenue from the sale of land -                           

Property rental income 8.908.449         -                      8.908.449              

Other operating income 2.881.395         502.080             3.383.475              

Operating expenses

    Property development expenses 62.793.129 -      62.793.129 -           

    Employee expenses 6.480.337 -        209.283 -            6.689.620 -             

    Depreciation and impairment losses 717.027 -            -                      717.027 -                

    Other operating expenses 8.709.098 -        232.762 -            8.941.860 -             

Change in fair value of Investment Properties 10.336.981 -    10.336.981 -           

Profit/(loss) on disposal of assets -                      -                      -                           

Share in the net profit (loss) of equity accounted 

investments 14.289               16.423.205       16.437.494            

Earnings before Interests & Taxes (EBIT) 1.680.080 -        16.483.240       10.336.981 -    4.466.179              

Finance income 3.365.081        3.365.081              

Finance expenses 5.524.612 -       5.524.612 -             

Profit/(loss) before tax (PBT) 2.306.648              

Income taxes 1.579.234 -             

Deferred taxes 293.526 -                

Profit/(loss) of the period 433.888                 

Non-controlling interest 178.977 -                (1)

Share of the group 612.865                 

Segment assets 514.736.318     41.941.139       556.677.457         

Equity accounted investments included in 

segment assets
2.154.570         56.954.665       59.109.235            

Segment liabilities 324.784.303     16.184.699       340.969.002         

(1) The non-controlling interest relates to the subsidiary Grossfeld Developments, part of the "Luxembourg" segment.

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group, which generates revenues and incurs expenditures. The segment reporting is 

presented in respect of geographical segments. The operating results are regularly reviewed by the Management Committee in order to 

monitor the performance of the various segments in terms of strategic goals, plans and budgets.  Segments of the Group that do not meet 

the IFRS 8 criteria to be reportable, have been aggregated and disclosed as "Other". 

The results and asset and liability items of the segment include items that can be attributed to a segment, either directly, or allocated on an 

allocation formula.



2021 Belgium Luxembourg Other Total

Revenue from development 45.549.977       2.501.088         -                    48.051.065            

Revenue from the sale of land -                           

Revenue from real estate services 1.957.126         1.957.126              

Revenue from management fees 145.000             -                      -                    145.000                 

Property rental income 8.952.379         -                      -                    8.952.379              

Other operating income 9.062.140         -                      -                    9.062.140              

Operating expenses

    Property development expenses 39.602.687 -      1.258.402 -        20.181             40.840.908 -           

    Employee expenses 8.324.838 -        -                      -                    8.324.838 -             

    Depreciation and impairment losses 596.503 -            -                      80 -                    596.583 -                

    Other operating expenses 12.317.525 -      540.115 -            85.527 -            12.943.167 -           

Change in fair value of Investment Properties 2.243.303 -        -                      -                    2.243.303 -             

Profit/(loss) on disposal of assets 13.551 -              -                      -                    13.551 -                  

Share in the net profit (loss) of equity accounted 

investments 99.019 -              20.336.501       -                    20.237.482            

Earnings before Interests & Taxes (EBIT) 2.469.196         21.039.072       65.426 -            23.442.842            

Finance income 2.492.993              

Finance expenses 5.770.563 -             

Profit/(loss) before tax (PBT) 20.165.272            

Income taxes 8.556                      

Profit/(loss) after tax from continuing operations 20.173.828            

Profit/(loss) after tax from discontinued operations -                           

Profit/(loss) of the period 20.173.828            

Non-controlling interest 352.444                 (1)

Share of the group 19.821.384            

Segment assets 576.340.189     82.844.942       12.311.361 -    646.873.770         

Equity accounted investments included in 

segment assets
2.700.237         49.461.454       -                    52.161.691            

Segment liabilities 359.407.104     13.393.138       8.155               372.808.397         

(1) The non-controlling interest relates to the subsidiary Grossfeld Developments, part of the "Luxembourg" segment.

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. No single customer accounted for more than 10% 

of the Group's revenue. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies described in 

Note 3.



29 Related party transactions
All figures in Euro

- Majority shareholders and all companies directly or indirectly owned by them;
- Shareholders with a significant influence;
- Associates or joints arrangements;
- Group's key personnel
- Other significant related parties

Name of related party
Type of related 

party
31/12/2022 31/12/2021 31/12/2022 31/12/2021

CBS Development Joint ventures 12.000           -                   -                  
CBS-Invest Joint ventures 21.130           25.091           700.201           674.760         
Grossfeld PAP Joint ventures 2.963.840      1.995.913      -                   -                  
Grossfeld Immobilière Joint ventures 146.355         54.387           5.796.355        451.649         
Les Jardins de Oisquercq Joint ventures 279.507         3.053.841        2.804.044      
Top Development Joint ventures -                  -                  -                   -                  

Total 3.131.325      2.366.898      9.550.397        3.930.453      

Compensation of key management personnel

31/12/2022 31/12/2021
Short-term benefits -                   2.300.532      
Total -                   2.300.532      

All key management personnel is now at level of Nextensa NV. 

Other related party transactions

There were no dividends distributed in 2022 and 2021.

The remuneration of directors and other member of key management personnel during the period was as follows:

Loans to related parties
Management fees and finance 

income

Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have 
been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Transactions mentioned here below are those performed with all related parties (exception made of the consolidated 
related parties) including: 

The Group has provided loans to its related parties at rates taking into account the creditworthiness of each specific 
entity. The loans to related parties are unsecured.



30 Subsidiaries
All figures in Euro

Details of the Company's subsidiaries at December 31, 2022 are included in the table below:

Name of subsidiary
Country of 

incorporation

Principal place 

of business
Principal activity

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Extensa Belgium Belgium Real estate development 100% 100%

Extensa Development Belgium Belgium Real estate development 100% 100%

Gare Maritime Belgium Belgium Real estate development 100% 100%

Implant Belgium Belgium Real estate development 100% 100%

Project T&T Belgium Belgium Real estate development 100% 100%

RFD Belgium Belgium Inactive 100% 100%

T&T Douanehotel Belgium Belgium Real estate development 100% 100%

T&T Food Experience Belgium Belgium Property management 100% 100%

T&T Openbaar Pakhuis Belgium Belgium Property management 100% 100%

T&T Parking Belgium Belgium Property management 100% 100%

T&T Tréfonds Belgium Belgium Real estate development 100% 100%

Tour & Taxis Services Belgium Belgium
Service provider to property 

management companies
100% 100%

T&T Property Management Belgium Belgium Property management 100% 100%

Vilvolease Belgium Belgium Property management 100% 100%

Extensa Invest I Belgium Belgium Real estate fund 100% 100%

Beekbaarimo Luxembourg Luxembourg Real estate  100% 100%

Grossfeld Developments Luxembourg Luxembourg Real estate development 100% 100%

RFD CEE Venture Capital Netherlands Netherlands Holding 100% 100%

Extensa Romania Romania Romania Real estate development 100% 100%

Monteco Belgium Belgium Real estate development 65% 0%

Proportion of interest/voting rights



Summarised financial information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Revenue and other operating revenues 3.102.874                                 2.501.088           

Profit (loss) before interest and taxation 281.633 -                                   352.443              

Taxation 52.341 -                                     47.220 -               

Profit (loss)  for the year 333.974 -                                   657.667              

154.997 -                                   305.223              

178.977 -                                   352.444              

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Non-current assets -                                              -                        

Current Assets 47.209.309                               31.986.256         

Total Assets 47.209.309                               31.986.256        

Non-current liabilities 27.980.859                               4.356.340           

Current liabilities 4.699.868                                 12.411.617         

Total Liabilities 32.680.727                               16.767.957        

Net assets 14.528.582                               15.218.299        

Group's share of net assets 3.724.022                                 4.709.321           

Non-controllings share of net assets 10.804.559                               10.508.978        

Profit (loss) attributable to the owners of the company

Profit (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests

Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests is set out 

below. The summarised financial information below represents amounts after intragroup eliminations.



31 Joint operations

32 Capital commitments

All figures in Euros

Capital and other expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not yet incurred is as follows:

31/12/2022 31/12/2021

Cloche d'Or * 5.147.000             3.070.544                 

Gare Maritime -                          650.000                    

Riva -                          100.000                    

Parking 6.964.000             250.000                    

Zone C * 3.291.000             1.129.159                 

Zone A/B 1.075.000             

Total 16.477.000           5.199.703                 

33 Earnings per share

2022 2021
Profit / (loss) of the period attributable to the owners of the 

Company
516.416                19.821.384               

Dividends paid -                          -                              

Earnings used in the calculation of Basic and Diluted 

earnings per share
516.416                19.821.384              

Number of ordinary shares for the purposes of Basic and 

Diluted earnings per share (see Note Consolidated 

Statement of Changes in Equity) 

642.979                642.979                    

 * The financing need for the commitments for the residential real estate developments Cloche d'Or and Zone C will mainly 

be fulfilled thanks to the proceeds of clients. 

The Group has a material joint operation, Gasperich Invest, which was founded on 26 July 2019. The Group has a 54.05% 

share in the result consisting of rental income or proceeds from the sale of real estate property of Gasperich Invest, which 

provides funding for Grossfeld PAP SA SICAV-RAIF.

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of Basic and Diluted earnings per share

are as follows:



34 Contingencies

Correction of sale price for shares in FDC Targu Mures owned by RFD CEE Venture Capital BV 

35 Events after the reporting period

There are no material events that took place after the reporting period.

In 2007, the shareholders of FDC Targu Mures, including RFD CEE Venture Capital BV (previously Extensa Nederland BV) 

(“Venture Capital”) owning 30% of the shares, sold their shares to PBW II Real Estate SA (“PBW II”), a Luxembourg fund. 

Following a disagreement between the sellers and the purchaser in relation to the purchase price, PBW II initiated 

arbitration proceedings which resulted in a condemnation of the sellers, including Venture Capital (without joint liability in 

respect of Venture Capital), to pay PBW II an additional sum of approximately EUR 26 million. Venture Capital is responsible 

for the payment of EUR 7.8 million (excluding interest). The Amsterdam court declared the arbitral award enforceable on the 

assets of Venture Capital in The Netherlands (exequatur) and PBW II subsequently requested Venture Capital to pay the 

amount awarded to it by the arbitral award. As at the date of the approval of the IFRS Statements, Venture Capital has no 

significant assets and the Group has not provided any guarantees in relation to any debt of Venture Capital.
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Independent auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements of 
Extensa Group NV for the year ended 31 December 2022 

 

As required by the provisions of the Euro Medium Term Note (“EMTN”) financing program of Extensa 
Group NV (“the Company”), we report to you in the framework of our contract as independent auditor 
on the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”). 
This report includes our opinion on the consolidated statement of financial position as at  
31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit and loss, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the disclosures (all elements 
together the “Consolidated Financial Statements”). 

Report on the audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Unqualified opinion 

We have audited the Consolidated Financial 
Statements of Extensa Group NV, which consists 
of the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated 
statement of profit and loss, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and 
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
year then ended and the disclosures, which show 
a consolidated balance sheet total of  
€ 615.786.692 and of which the consolidated 
income statement shows a profit for the year of  
€ 433.886. 

In our opinion, the Consolidated Financial 
Statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated net equity and financial position as 
at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated 
results for the year then ended, prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European 
Union (“IFRS”) and with applicable legal and 
regulatory requirements in Belgium. 

Other matters 

The Consolidated Financial Statements are 
prepared to provide information on the evolution 
of the financial position and the results of the 
Group towards the bondholders under the EMTN 
program of the Group (“the Bondholders”).  

Since this information can only be consulted 
through a website that is solely accessible for the 
Bondholders, the Consolidated Financial 
Statements may not be suitable for any other 
purpose. Our audit report is intended solely for 
the Company and the Bondholders, and should 
not be distributed to or used by other parties than 
the Company or the Bondholders. Our opinion is 
not modified in respect of this matter. 

Basis for the unqualified opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the “Our responsibilities for the audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section 
of our report. 

We have complied with all ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements in Belgium, including those 
with respect to independence.  

We have obtained from the Board of Directors and 
the officials of the Company the explanations and 
information necessary for the performance of our 
audit. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.  
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 
for the preparation of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
preparation of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with IFRS and with applicable legal 
and regulatory requirements in Belgium and for 
such internal controls relevant to the preparation 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

As part of the preparation of Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the Board of Directors is 
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, and provide, if 
applicable, information on matters impacting 
going concern, The Board of Directors should 
prepare the financial statements using the going 
concern basis of accounting, unless the Board of 
Directors either intends to liquidate the Company 
or to cease business operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Our responsibilities for the audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
whether the Consolidated Financial Statements 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to express an opinion on 
these Consolidated Financial Statements based on 
our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with the ISAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

In performing our audit, we comply with the legal, 
regulatory and normative framework that applies 
to the audit of the Annual Accounts in Belgium. 
However, a statutory audit does not provide 
assurance about the future viability of the 
Company , nor about the efficiency or 
effectiveness with which the board of directors 
has taken or will undertake the Company's 
business operations. Our responsibilities with 
regards to the going concern assumption used by 
the board of directors are described below. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we 
exercise professional judgment and we maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 
also perform the following tasks: 

• identification and assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, the planning and execution of audit 
procedures to respond to these risks and 
obtain audit evidence which is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting material 
misstatements resulting from fraud is higher 
than when such misstatements result from 
errors, since fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control; 

• obtaining insight in the system of internal 
controls that are relevant for the audit and 
with the objective to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal control; 

• evaluating the selected and applied 
accounting policies, and evaluating the 
reasonability of the accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the Board of 
Directors as well as the underlying 
information given by the Board of Directors; 
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• conclude on the appropriateness of the Board 
of Directors’ use of the going-concern basis of 
accounting, and based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether or not a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Company’s or Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the Consolidated 
Financial Statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of the auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going-concern; 

• evaluating the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements, and evaluating whether the 
Consolidated Financial Statements reflect a 
true and fair view of the underlying 
transactions and events. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors 
regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.  

Because we are ultimately responsible for the 
opinion, we are also responsible for directing, 
supervising and performing the audits of the 
subsidiaries. In this respect we have determined 
the nature and extent of the audit procedures to 
be carried out for group entities. 

 

Brussels, 25 April 2023  

 
EY Bedrijfsrevisoren BV 
Independent auditor 
Represented by 

 

 

Joeri Klaykens * 
Partner  
*Acting on behalf of a BV/SRL 
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